
 
 

The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and the environment by providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and recycling services. 

 

  

BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

November 4, 2021 

On March 12, 2020, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-25-20, which enhances 
State and Local Governments’ ability to respond to COVID-19 Pandemic based on Guidance 
for Gatherings issued by the California Department of Public Health. The Executive Order 
specifically allows local legislative bodies to hold meetings via teleconference and to make 
meetings accessible electronically, in order to protect public health, which was due to end 
on September 30, 2021 (Exec. Ord. N-08-21). However, the Legislature passed AB 361 
which provides local agencies with the ability to meet remotely during proclaimed state 
emergencies under modified Brown Act requirements, similar in many ways to the rules 
and procedures established by the Governor’s previous Executive Orders. - In light of this – 
the November 4, 2021 meeting of the LGVSD Board will be held via Zoom electronic 
meeting*. There will be NO physical location of the meeting. Due to the current 
circumstances, there may be limited opportunity to provide verbal comments during the 
meeting. Persons who wish to address the Board for public comment or on an item on the 
agenda are encouraged, but not required, to submit comments in writing to the Board 
Secretary (tlerch@lgvsd.org) by 5:00 pm on Wednesday, November 3, 2021.  In addition, 
Persons wishing to address the Board verbally must contact the Board Secretary, by email 
(tlerch@lgvsd.org) and provide their Name; Address; Tel. No.; and the Item they wish to 
address by the same date and time deadline for submission of written comments, as 
indicated above.  Please keep in mind that any public comments must be limited to 3 
minutes due to time constraints.  Any written  comments will be distributed to the LGVSD 
Board before the meeting. 

REMOTE CONFERENCING ONLY 
Join Zoom Meeting online at: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86375344283 

OR 
By teleconference at: +16699009128  Meeting ID: 863 7534 4283  

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION ON THE DISTRICT WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

 

NOTE:  Final board action may be taken on any matter appearing on agenda 

 

1



November 4, 2021 Page 2 of 4 
  

  
 
 
OPEN SESSION: 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

CLOSED SESSION: 

 

2. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION – GENERAL MANAGER: pursuant to  
Government Code Section 54957. 

 

 
OPEN SESSION: 
 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 

 
2. MANAGEMENT AND UNREPRESENTED EMPLOYEE CONTRACT TERMS AND APPROVALS 

Board to consider modified contract terms for Management and unrepresented employee. 

3. CONSENT CALENDAR: 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for  October 7th and October 11, 2021 

B. Approve the Warrant List for  November 4, 2021 

 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A and  B. 

 

4. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. General Manager Report – Written 

2. Departmental Reports – Written 

3. Enterprise Resource Management Accounting System Software and Services – Written 

4. Secondary Treatment Process Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion Project Update -
Presentation  

 
5. PUBLIC COMMENT 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the 

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally 

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or 

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 

 

5:10 PM 
 
 
6:10 PM 
 

 
 

6:15 PM 

5:05 PM 
 

7:00 PM 

4:00 PM 

4:05 PM 

Estimated 
Time 
 

2



November 4, 2021 Page 3 of 4 
  

  
 

6. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS: 

1. CLARK  
a. NBWA Board Committee, NBWA Conference Committee,  

2021 Employee Climate Survey Ad Hoc Committee, 
2021 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

2. ELIAS 
a. NBWRA, Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE, 2021 GM Evaluation   
 Ad Hoc Committee, 2021 Operations Control Center Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

3. MURRAY 
a. Marin LAFCO, CASA Energy Committee, 2021 GM Evaluation  Ad Hoc Committee, 

 2021 Legal Services Ad Hoc Committee, 2021 Employee Climate Survey Ad Hoc Committee, 
Marin Special Districts Association, Other Reports 
 

4. SCHRIEBMAN 
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek Watershed Council, JPA Local Task Force 

NBWA Tech Advisory Committee,  Other Reports  
 

5. YEZMAN 
a. Flood Zone 7,CSRMA, Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE 

Engineering Subcommittee, 2021 Legal Services Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 

7. BOARD REQUESTS: 

A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal 

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal 

C. Pending Board Agenda Item Requests 

i. ACTION - Relocation Assistance Act Policy for Real Estate Acquistions 

8. VARIOUS INDUSTRY ARTICLES 

9. ADJOURNMENT 
 

FUTURE BOARD MEETING DATES: NOVEMBER 8, NOVEMBER 10 AND NOVEMBER 18, 2021 

 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, District Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before November 1, 2021 at 4:00 p.m., I posted the Agenda for 
the Board Meeting of said Board to be held November 4, 2021  at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas 
Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 
 

 
        October 28, 2021 
 
 

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 

AGENDA APPROVED: Crystal J. Yezman, Board President Patrick Richardson, Legal Counsel 

7:20 PM 
 

7:30 PM 
 
 

7:05 PM 
 

7:25 PM 
 
 

3



November 4, 2021 Page 4 of 4 
  

  
  _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study session. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting. 

 

 

 

4



5



6



7



8



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 2 of 8 
 

 

Equity based salary adjustments and annual general wage increases were discussed along with 

other benefits during the OE3 negotiation process.  Performance evaluations and associated 

merit increases continued for all employees during the negotiation period and were not tied to  

the equity adjustment being considered.  Negotiations ended when the Board authorized 

executing a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the District and OE3 on August 19, 

2021. 

 

Managers began contract discussions in earnest starting on September 8 with both group and 

individual follow-up meetings with the Administrative Services Manager and General Manager 

occurring through September.  The Administrative/Financial Specialist also was allowed an 

opportunity to provide feedback on the contract terms proposed. All parties came to a unified 

agreement on the terms to be proposed, which are presented below. 

 
Managers have requested modifications to their contracts in the context of the terms agreed to 

between the District and OE3. These terms will establish competitive salaries and benefits 

based upon market data, maintain internal alignment between employee and management 

positions, and position the District to standardize its salary schedule relative to other agencies by 

removing dual and triple certification steps from the salary schedule. 

 

Proposed Modifications for All Management/Unrepresented Employee Contracts 

1. Contract terms to coincide with the negotiated MOU term through June 30, 2023, retroactive 

to the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021. 

2. Equity Adjustments to be implemented are based on precedent of previous Board action 

setting salary for represented employees at or above market median, taking into 

consideration individual management positions as they relate to comparable agencies, as 

well as adjustments for internal compaction between LGVSD classifications: 

a. Koff & Associates Compensation Study was used as the basis for developing 

equity adjustments for Department Manager and Administrative/Financial 

Specialist agreements.  The Total Compensation percent value provided 

Market Compensation Results Summary from December 2020 is one of 

multiple factors used in development of the proposed equity adjustments.   See 
Table 1a. 

b. To establish market equity per OE3 and manager proposals, the General 

Manager’s contract is proposed to include an equity adjustment based on a 

market median survey of comparable agencies calculated by Regional 

Governmental Services (RGS) using agencies identified in the Koff & 

Associates study that recently had salary increases, excluding any bonus 

program features offered by other agencies.  See Table 1b. for summary of 

RGS report and Appendix A for details. 

9



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 3 of 8 
 

 

3. General Wage Increase to mirror the represented staff increases; effective July 1, 2021 an 

increase of 2.5% will apply (after equity, certification, and longevity pay scale adjustments) to 

all but the General Manager.  The 2.5% General Wage Increase is considered included in the 

proposed equity adjustment for the General Manager.  Effective July 1, 2022 an increase of 

2.75% will apply to all employees.  Historically, the Cost-of-Living Adjustments have followed 

the CPI-U 12-month April to April adjustment period, which reported a 3.8% increase over 

last year, but management is proposing matching increase the general wage increase 

agreed to with OE3 and reflected in the MOU. 

4. Increase longevity for management after year 10 from 3% to 5% to partially reestablish 

separation between represented and management employees.  Management had a 3% 

longevity increase after 10 years while OE3 had none.  OE3 now has 2% after 10 years. 

5. To offset the cost of (4) it is proposed that the 2% longevity step after year 15 be eliminated. 

Longevity will remain pensionable and will be shown on the salary schedule. 

6. Remove requirement of having to reside within 45 miles of workplace for employees who do 

not  provide Stand-by coverage or respond to collection system or plant emergencies.  It is 

proposed that the Administrative/Finance Specialist, Administrative Services Manager, and 

District Engineer positions can have this residency response time requirement from their 

respective contracts removed.  

7. Add Veteran’s Day holiday to the list of paid holidays bringing total to 11 days per year. 

8. Incidental changes to dental coverage and boot reimbursement to match increases in MOU. 

 
 

Table 1a. Market Compensation Results Summary Dec 2020 

Classification Title # of 
Matches 

Top 
Monthly 
% Above 
or Below 

Total 
Compensation 

% Above or 
Below 

Administrative/Financial Specialist 3 -7.90% -5.70% 

Administrative Services Manager 3 -22.80% -17.60% 

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager 3 -19.50% -10.00% 

District Engineer 4 -1.50% -1.00% 
Plant Manager 4 -15.80% -14.90% 

 

The General Manager median salary was recently studied to assist with determining the 

equity adjustment that should apply to the General Manager contract.  Merit adjustment 

based on performance is not included in this analysis and is not considered in the equity 

adjustments proposed. 

 
 

10



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 4 of 8 
 

 

Table 1b. General Manager Market Median Salary – RGS 

Agency 
Monthly 
Salary 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitation District $21,694  
    

Median of Comparator Agencies  $23,630 
% Above/Below Median -8.19% 

    

Average of Comparator Agencies  $23,617 
% Above/Below Average -8.14% 

 
Ending the Multi-Certification Program for Department Manager and Unrepresented Employees  

1. Management supports the District’s goal of standardizing its salary scale to better align 

with nearby comparable agencies by eliminating the Multi-Certification program.  This will 

make future market rate compensation studies more intuitive. 

2. The Dual and Triple Certification listed as individual steps in the current salary schedule is 

currently valued at 10.25% of base salary.  In recognition of the benefit being given up, 

the base salary scale for existing department manager and unrepresented employees is 

proposed to be increased by 7.69%. 

3.  The General Manager is excluded from the multi-certification program and ending the 

program will have no impact on General Manager employment contract. 
 

A draft Salary Schedule for management and unrepresented classifications based on the above 

terms is shown below.  The Salary Schedule will be considered by Resolution at a future Board 

meeting if terms and agreements are approved by the Board. 
 

Proposed Salary Schedule Effective July 1, 2021 - Management & Unpresented 

Classification Title  Monthly 

Step 1 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 5 Longevity 
after year 
6 at 5% 

Longevity 
after year 
10 at 5% 

Administrative/Financial 
Specialist  8,126  8,532  8,959  9,407  9,877  10,371  10,890  

Administrative Services 
Manager  14,339  15,056  15,809  16,600  17,429  18,301  19,216  

Collection 
System/Maintenance/Safety 
Manager 

 13,990  14,689  15,423  16,195  17,004  17,855  18,747  

District Engineer  14,698  15,433  16,204  17,014  17,865  18,758  19,696  
Plant Manager  14,339  15,056  15,809  16,600  17,429 18,301  19,216  
General Manager 23,630 

11



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 5 of 8 
 

 

Applying the terms described above and taking into consideration modifications approved by the 

Board for represented employees, Appendix A shows the progressive calculation steps used to 

determine the proposed final monthly salary for management and unrepresented employees 

including the 2.5% General Wage Increase. 

 

Highest Paid Subordinate and Gap Analysis 

Separation between salaries of adjacent classifications in the salary schedule is a fundamental 

factor to be considered when making salary adjustments.  When a market or internal equity 

adjustment is granted to one class in a series, the other classes in the series should also be 

adjusted accordingly to maintain separation.  Pay philosophy is also considered when a 

compensation plan is implemented.  

 

An internal analysis looking at the LGVSD General Manager and Department Managers 

compared to their immediate HPS is shown under Table 3 using the highest compensation 

available to the position. It takes into consideration longevity pay and the value of the dual and 

triple certifications available to represented employees to give an accurate comparison of total 

salary. 

 

Table 3 –LGVSD Highest Paid Subordinate Gap Study  

Manager Position 

Top 
Monthly 
Salary (1) 

Highest Paid Subordinate 
(HPS) 

Top 
Monthly 
Salary (1) 

Percentage 
HPS Salary 

is below 
Manager 

General Manager $23,630  District Engineer $19,696  -16.65% 
Administrative Services 
Manager (2) $19,216  District Secretary $11,067  -42.41% (2) 
Collections Systems / 
Maintenance / Safety Manager $18,747  

Maintenance Operations 
Supervisor $14,574  -22.26% 

District Engineer $19,696  Associate Engineer $15,267  -22.49% 

Plant Manager $19,216  Plant Operations Supervisor $14,574  -24.15% 
        

(1)  Based on proposed management adjustments and actual represented employee compensation as 
of July 1, 2021. 

(2) Percentage below ASM is greater than other management positions because other departments 
HPS requires advance degrees or specialized certifications. 

 

Standard practices would normally place a full supervisory class, such as the General Manager 

and Department Managers, at least 10% to 25% above the Highest Paid Subordinate (HPS).  A 

gap analysis of the General Manager position undertaken by RGS concluded that the LGVSD 

General Manager is currently under the median when compared to other agencies HPS gap. See 
Appendix B. 

12



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 6 of 8 
 

 

 

Development of an internal alignment chart is a useful tool to examine the differentials between 

supervisorial and management classifications, the gap between these positions, and the impact 

of compaction if insufficient adjustments are made. See Appendix C. 

 

Additional Contract Modifications Unique to Individual Employees 

1. The Emergency Response Stipend for Collection System and Plant Managers is 

proposed to be $300 per month to match the stipend benefit received by OE3 

represented Stand-by Emergency Response employees. 

2. The Administrative/Financial Specialist is requesting one additional week of annual leave 

in recognition of not being able to have union representation.  Management recommends 

adding one week of annual Administrative Leave to the contract rather than Vacation 

Leave which can accrue. 

3. The General Manager is requesting 2 additional months of severance, bringing the total 

severance from four to six months. 

4. Due to the consolidation of the Administrative/Financial Specialist I and II salary schedule 

into one salary schedule, it is proposed that the current incumbent’s salary be adjusted 

from Step 5 of the current range to Step 3 of the proposed range.   

5. Due to the consolidation of the Administrative Services Manager I and II salary schedule 

into one salary schedule, it is proposed that the current incumbent’s salary be adjusted 

from Step 5 of the current range to Step 3 of the proposed range.   

New Employment Agreements have been drafted based on the above terms and are attached 

for Board consideration as Appendixes D through I  (excluding supporting referenced Exhibit A 
which has not changed and Exhibit B which will be updated after terms approved).  If approved, 

the General Manager will execute the agreements with the department managers and 

unpresented employee.  The Board President will execute the General Manager agreement. 

 

The Board can choose to make a motion to: 

a. Approve all employment agreements for management and unrepresented employees, 

including the General Manager, as presented; or 

b. Defer action to allow the Board to review its position on terms presented.  The follow up 

meeting can be in a closed session if it is limited to meeting with the local agency 

designated representative (who must be identified in open session prior to closed  
 

 

 

 

13



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 7 of 8 
 

 

c. session) to review terms and provide instruction, with final action on any proposed 

compensation to be considered in a regular open session; or  

d. Not approve any of the employment agreements as presented and ask that terms outlined 

be brought back under closed session; or 

e. Take any other action, or no action, as legally allowed by Board policy. 

 

 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 

On June 17, 2021, the Board approved the Extension of Employment Agreements for 

management and unrepresented employees through December 31, 2021. 
 

On August 19, 2021, the Board approved entering into Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

between the District and OE3 and by Resolution No. 2021-2225 adopted the Pay Schedule for 

represented employees effective the first pay period that encompassed July 1, 2021. 

 

On October 21, 2021, the Board tabled the agenda item on the management and unrepresented 

employee contract terms and approvals. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

N/A 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The proposal is fiscally sound, meets the needs of the District with regards to retention of 

qualified staff via market comparisons, and is generally consistent with the terms agreed to 

between OE3 and the District.  The cost to implement equity adjustments and other changes to 

management and unpresented contract agreements is $96,009 in the 1st year and estimated at 

$113,454 in the 2nd year.  This represents a 12.86% average increase over prior year payroll 

expenses, and includes the annual wage increase effective July 1, 2021. 
 

The budget provides for a 12.5% wage increase; the proposed modifications are just over the 

annual budget by $4,012.  The total budgeted wages for all employees for fiscal year 2021-22 is 

$4,518,950. 

 

The table on the following page shows the breakdown in additional costs for fiscal year 2021-22 

and fiscal year 2022-23 if agreements are approved as presented. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2021\Agenda Packets 2021\11042021\ASR Manager Contract Terms and Agreements Continued.docx Page 8 of 8 
 

 

 
 

Appendix: 
A. LGVSD Salary Calculation Steps – Current to Proposed 
B. RGS GM Salary Compensation Study & Gap Analysis Results 
C. Internal Alignment Chart Proposed Modifications 
D. Employment Agreement – General Manager Prinz 
E. Employment Agreement – District Engineer Cortez 
F. Employment Agreement – Plant Manager Liebmann 
G. Employment Agreement – Administrative Services Manager McDonald 
H. Employment Agreement – Collection System / Maintenance / Safety Manager Pease 
I. Employment Agreement – Administrative Financial Specialist Schultz 

 

Total 2-Year Term

1st Year Mgmt 

Addtl' Cost Est.

2nd Year 

Mgmt Addtl' 

Cost Est.

Equity Adj. plus annual wage increases 141,563$            145,456$    

Emergency Response Stipend $300 for Ops 7,200$                7,200$        

Increase longevity to 5% after 10 years $5,750 19,416$      

Eliminate 15 year longevity ($4,727) (4,963)$       

Dual Triple Cert - elimination (56,500)$             (56,500)$     

Add Veteran's Day Holiday -$                

Adminstrative Leave for Unrepresented 2,067$                2,171$        

Increase dental coverage to $3,000 615$                   633$           

Increase boot reimbursement to $300 42$                     42$             

96,009$              113,454$    

15



APPENDIX A 
 

 

LGVSD Salary Calculation Steps – Current to Proposed 

 

 
     *     Relative to current pay with Dual and Triple Certification Program. 
     **   No 2.5% General Wage Increase for GM as it is considered a part of the current equity adjustment, salary set by contract. 

 

 
October 14, 2021 

 

CURRENT ADJUSTMENTS PROPOSED
General 
Wage 

Increase

Position

Step 5 
(Exclud. 
Cert & 

Longevity)

Multi- Cert. 
Benefit 
10.25%

TOTAL  
(Exclud. 

Longevity) % Increase

End and 
Convert 
7.69% to 
Salary * %

Increase 
or 

Decrease

July 1 
2021     

2.5% ** % Increase

TOP 
MONTHLY 

SALARY 
(Exclud. 

Longevity)

Administrative 
Financial Specialist $8,465.40 $867.82 $9,333.22 5.70% $483 -$229 0% $0 $241 5.83% $544 $9,877

Administrative 
Services Manager $14,429.46 $1,479.06 $15,908.52 17.84% $2,575 -$435 -7.14% -$1,308 $425 9.56% $1,520 $17,429

Collections Safety 
Manager $12,431.19 $1,274.38 $13,705.57 12.27% $1,525 -$357 10.38% $1,560 $415 24.07% $3,298 $17,004

District Engineer $15,729.40 $1,612.07 $17,341.47 0.39% $61 -$404 2.50% $425 $436 3.02% $524 $17,865

Plant Manager $13,811.90 $1,415.90 $15,227.80 14.32% $1,978 -$404 0% $0 $425 14.46% $2,201 $17,429

General Manager ** $21,694.05 n/a $21,694.05 8.92% $1,936 n/a 0% $0 n/a 8.92% $1,936 $23,630

Market Equity 
Adjustment on 

Base Salary

Multi- 
Cert. 

Program
Internal 

Alignment Overall Increase 
Current Monthly Salary and Multi- 

Certification Compensation

16



APPENDIX B 
 

 

Regional Governmental Services Salary Compensation & Gap Analysis Results 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitation District      
Base Rate of Pay as of 2021-Oct     
           

Agency 
Monthly 
Salary 

Last 
Increase 

Highest Paid 
Subordinate (HPS) 

Top 
Monthly 
Salary 

Percentage 
HPS 

Salary is 
below GM 

     

 
    

Sausalito/Marin City Sanitation District $24,455  7/1/2021 
Operations 

Superintendent  $14,961  -38.82% 
     

Central Marin Sanitation District (JPA) $24,375  7/1/2021 
Technical Services 

Manager $19,221  -21.14% 
     

West County Wastewater District $23,630  6/30/2021 
Deputy General 

Manager $21,036  -10.98% 
     

Novato Sanitation District $23,086  7/1/2021 
Deputy General 

Manager $18,161  -21.33% 
     

Ross Valley Sanitation District $22,540  1/1/2021 
Finance & Admin Srvs 

Mgr/Asst GM $20,530  -8.92% 
     

Belvedere/Tiburon Sanitation 5 $16,786  41/1/2016 
Operations 

Superintendent  $12,526  -25.38% 
     

Sewerage Agency of Southern Marin 5NCC    -  -  - 
     

      
     

                 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitation District $21,694  7/1/2021 District Engineer $18,755  -13.55% 
     

                 

Median of Comparator Agencies 4 $23,630          

% Above/Below Median -8.19%          

             

Average of Comparator Agencies 4 $23,617          

% Above/Below Average -8.14%              

1CMSA - After each annual evaluation, GM is eligible to receive performance pay of up to 5% of base pay.    

2WCWD - The original employment contract allows performance pay at the end of each fiscal year not to exceed 
10% of base pay. A contract amendment was approved in 2020 stipulating this pay would only apply to FY 2020. No 
further amendments have been approved. 

     

3RVSD - GM received performance pay of 5% for the first time since hire (2018).   

4Belvedere/Tiburon - GM has not received and increase to base pay since 1/1/2016, but has received bonuses  each 
year (the amount determined by the Board each year) - excluded from Median of Comparator Agencies  

     

5NCC - No Comparable Class - Class reports to the PW Director. Does not have the same span of control as GM classes 
 

17



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District
Proposed - October 2021

All Except General Manager:
Blue = Steps 1 to 5
Green = Longevity Steps 6 to Maximum
General Manager = Set salary established by contract 10/14/2021

$4,000 $6,000 $8,000 $10,000 $12,000 $14,000 $16,000 $18,000 $20,000 $22,000 $24,000

Collection System Operator‐in‐Training
Collection System Operator I
Collection System Operator II
Collection System Operator III

Collection System Operator Lead
Skilled Maintenance Worker I
Skilled Maintenance Worker II

Electrical Instrumentation Technician
Maintenance Supervisor

Collection System/Maintenance/Safety Manager
Laboratory Analyst‐in‐Training

Laboratory Analyst I
Laboratory Analyst II
Laboratory Analyst III

Environmental Services Director
Plant Operator‐in‐Training

Plant Operator I
Plant Operator II
Plant Operator III

Plant Operator Lead
Plant Operations Supervisor

Plant Manager
Administrative Assistant

District Secretary
Administrative/Financial Specialist
Administrative Services Manager

Assistant Engineer
Associate Engineer
District Engineer
General Manager

Internal Alignment Chart

Note: Certification stipends up to $900 for qualified represented
employees are excluded in internal alignment chart.

APPENDIX C

18



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 1 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

MIKE PRINZ (General Manager) 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ 

day of _____, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special district, 

(“District or Employer”) and MIKE PRINZ, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as follows: 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of MIKE PRINZ as General 

Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS Employer and Employee now desire to set forth their agreement for 

employment of Employee on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the provisions and promises 

hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows:  

UPDATE

APPENDIX D

19



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 2 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Mike Prinz as General Manager to perform the 

functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform 

other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the General Manager.  

B. The General Manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the operation and 

management of Employer and the general business and governmental affairs of Employer in 

accordance with the laws of the United States of America and the State of California governing 

special districts. The General Manager shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions 

necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the business and governmental affairs of 

Employer as determined by the Board of Directors.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

other services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or 

commercial activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to Employer's facilities, 

Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence to a distance within a 45-minute 

automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.   

UPDATE

20



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 3 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as General Manager at the pleasure of the Board of Directors, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end on June 

30, 2023, unless terminated earlier as provided herein.   

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employer to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the provisions 

set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to compensate Employee the amount of $23,630 per month 

effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021. 

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to five percent of base salary (5%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District.  

UPDATE

21



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 4 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the Board of Directors shall 

review the performance of Employee and, upon satisfactory or greater than satisfactory 

performance may at its sole discretion increase Employee’s salary.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on District 

Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined solely by the Board of Directors (see Section 4, below)  All future salary increases 

except for COLA increases are discretionary, determined in the sole discretion of the Board of 

Directors.  

E. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%.  

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

The Board of Directors shall at least annually review and evaluate the responsibilities, 

workload and performance of the Employee. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance 

with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop goals, 

objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among those 

goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of General 

Manager.   

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “B”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

UPDATE

22



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 5 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

C. Employee may purchase a tablet computer or laptop once in a four-year period 

and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the Employee terminate employment within 

two years of receiving the reimbursement, the Employee shall return to the District 50% of the 

cost so reimbursed. 

D. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours.  EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

one time a year.  All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s 

current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  

In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

Finance Director, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation requests must be submitted 

by June 1 and/or December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period.  This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

E. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle for District purposes and 

commuting. Employer shall pay for all expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be 

permitted to use the vehicle for limited personal use only when Employee is either engaged in 

UPDATE

23



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 6 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

Employer activities or commuting to and from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable.   If 

Employee ceases to be General Manager this vehicle benefit shall end. 

F. On July 1 of each year, the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1, regardless of unused 

balance remaining from prior fiscal year. 

G. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

H. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is the sole 

responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be on 

call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary.  Should the Employee terminate their employment with the 

District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse 

the District 50% of the purchase cost.  

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

UPDATE

24



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 7 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the Board. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

Board.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employee shall be entitled to attend up to six industry 

related conferences per year, including but not limited to Water Reuse, CASA, WEF, CWEA, 

CSDA or similar. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the Board. 

D. Employee shall obtain the Board’s prior approval for any expenses in this Section 

which are not in the approved budget.   

E. Employer shall reimburse Employee up to $5,000 annually for tuition and fees for 

any college credit courses Employee may attend related to his position as General Manager or in 

his efforts to obtain a college degree.  

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

UPDATE

25



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 8 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the Board.  Employee may be terminated 

by Employer at any time with or without cause, at the sole discretion of the Employer. Employee 

may terminate his employment at any time with or without reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death of 

Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to six months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The Employer shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the Employer that 

releases the Employer from any and all claims the Employee may have against the Employer.  If 

the Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall 

not be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

UPDATE

26



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 9 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation, compensatory time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the Board of Directors, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Indemnity 

 Employer and Employee recognize the broad legal obligation of an employer to defend, 

indemnify and hold harmless a public employee in connection with that public employee acting 

within the course and scope of their employment.   

 Employer will defend, indemnify and hold harmless Employee and pay all costs and fees 

incurred by him, whether as a party, witness, or otherwise, in connection with any actual or 

potential suit, claim, demand, investigation, or similar event arising within the course and scope 

of his employment. This obligation on the part of Employer will continue regardless of if or 

when the General Manager’s employment with Employer terminates.  This includes defense in 

any administrative proceedings or any criminal action involving the operation of Employer’s 

plant and facilities.  However, if the public entity pays any claim or judgment or portion thereof 

on behalf of Employee, the Employer may recover the amount of payment from Employee if 

Employer establishes that with regard to the act or omission upon which the claim or judgment is 

based, Employee acted or failed to act because of actual fraud, corruption, or actual malice or 

that he willfully failed or refused to reasonably cooperate in good faith in the defense conducted 

by Employer. 

UPDATE

27



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 10 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

Section 9: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

 Mike Prinz 
 2036 Woodside Drive 
 Santa Rosa, CA 95404 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served. 

Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of 

such written notice in the course of transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 10: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the Employer  and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

UPDATE

28



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 11 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the Board of Directors and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

Employer and Employee approve and accept the terms and provisions of this Agreement 

and agree to be bound thereby. 

 

THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT HAVE READ THE FOREGOING 

AGREEMENT AND FULLY UNDERSTAND EACH AND EVERY PROVISION 

UPDATE

29



Employment Agreement – (General Manager) Page 12 
8698552.1 LA105-001 revised DM 10/10/21 

CONTAINED HEREIN. WHEREFORE, THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED THIS 

AGREEMENT ON THE DATES SHOWN BELOW. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by its Board President, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

 

_______________________________    Date: ______________ 
Board President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 
______________________________    Date: _______________ 
Mike Prinz 
 
 
 
______________________________     
Teresa Lerch  
District Secretary 
          Seal 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, District Counsel for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
       

UPDATE

30



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 1 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

Michael Cortez (District Engineer) 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Michael Cortez, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Michael Cortez as District 

Engineer of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as District Engineer of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

UPDATE

APPENDIX E

31



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Michael Cortez as District Engineer to 

perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to 

perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the District Engineer.  

Employee is presently employed as a District Engineer. 

B. The District Engineer shall perform civil engineering, project management, 

construction management and inspections, reviews of private improvement projects to ensure 

conformance with District standards and other engineering or technical services and the general 

business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States 

of America and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General 

Manager and as outlined in the District Engineer job description. The District Engineer shall do 

and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the 

business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

 

 

UPDATE

32



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 3 
 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as District Engineer at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-will 

employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate 

salary step identified in the District Engineer Salary Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any 

appropriate longevity amounts. 

B. Longevity Amounts 

UPDATE

33



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 4 
 

i. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to five percent of base salary (5%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District.  

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in District Engineer Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,865 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph C. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%. 

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

 

UPDATE

34



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 5 
 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as District Engineer. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of District Engineer.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be compensated $399.23 monthly for a vehicle allowance. The 

amount will increase each year based on Board approved General Wage COLA 

increases. 

C. On July 1 of every year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours 

per year of Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, 

regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

UPDATE

35



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 6 
 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is 

the sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee 

shall be on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to 

respond to District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the 

Employee terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a 

reimbursement for a phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the purchase cost. 

F.  If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s 

current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  

In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

UPDATE

36



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 7 
 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation pay requests will be 

processed twice a year, with submittal deadlines of June 1 and December 1.   All vacation pay 

requests made by the submittal deadline will be processed on the following payroll date after 

June 1 and/or December 1.  This cash-out will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll 

Tax Law. 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and maintenance of required 

licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

UPDATE

37



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 8 
 

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

UPDATE

38



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 9 
 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

 
Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Michael Cortez 
901 Innisfree Court 
Vallejo, CA 94591 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
 

UPDATE

39



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 10 
 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

UPDATE

40



Employment Agreement – Michael Cortez (District Engineer) Page 11 
 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by General Manager, and duly attested by its 

District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and year 

first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
General Manager Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District 

 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 

Michael Cortez 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________      Seal 
Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

UPDATE

41



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 1 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Robert Liebmann, (“Employee”) both of whom understand 

as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Robert Liebmann as Plant 

Manager I or II of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Plant Manager of the Las 

Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

UPDATE

APPENDIX F

42



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Robert Liebmann as Plant Manager to perform 

the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform 

other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the Plant Manager.  

B. The Plant Manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the operation and 

management of the Treatment Plant, Laboratory, Reclamation Area, Pump Stations and the 

general business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United 

States of America and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the 

General Manager and as outlined in the Plant Manager job description. The Plant Manager shall 

do and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct 

the business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager.    

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence to a distance within 

a 45-minute automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.  Employee is 

UPDATE

43



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 3 
 

entitled to an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by 

Emergency Response employee. 

 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Plant Manager I or II at the pleasure of the General Manager, and as an at-

will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee the salary identified in Plant 

Manager Salary Schedule attached as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

UPDATE

44



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 4 
 

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to five percent of base salary (5%) at the completion of 10 

years of continuous employment with the District.  

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee’s 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Plant Manager Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the first period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,429 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph C. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee will be entitled to a General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%.  

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

UPDATE

45



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 5 
 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his first anniversary date as Plant Manager. Said review and 

evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and 

Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for 

the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further 

establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the 

District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance 

of the duties of Plant Manager.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

B. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle. Employer shall pay for all 

expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be permitted to use the vehicle for limited 

personal use only when Employee is either engaged in Employer activities or commuting to and 

from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable. If Employee ceases to be Plant Manager but is 

otherwise employed by Employer this vehicle benefit shall end. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

UPDATE

46



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 6 
 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is the 

sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the purchase cost. 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

UPDATE

47



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 7 
 

H. Cash-Out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s 

current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  

In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation requests must be submitted 

by June 1 and/or December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period.  This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, and 

local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences, and seminars that 

are necessary for his professional development and for the good of the Employer as determined 

solely by the General Manager. 

UPDATE

48



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 8 
 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

UPDATE

49



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 9 
 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Robert Liebmann 
75 Rockrose Way 
Novato, CA 94945 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

UPDATE

50



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 10 
 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 

Section 9: General Provisions 
 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

UPDATE

51



Employment Agreement – Robert Liebmann (Plant Manager) Page 11 
 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by General Manager, and duly attested by its 

District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and year 

first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 

Robert Liebmann 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

UPDATE

52



Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 1 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

DALE MCDONALD (Administrative Services Manager) 

This  EMPLOYMENT  AGREEMENT  ("Agreement")  is  made  and  entered  into  this 

_____ day  of     __________ , 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary

District,  a special district, ("District  or Employer")  and DALE MCDONALD,  ("Employee") 

both of whom understand as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS,  Employer  desires  to  employ  the  services  of  DALE  MCDONALD  as 

Administrative Services Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, ("Board") to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS  Employer  and  Employee  now  desire  to  set  forth  their  agreement  for 

employment of Employee on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the provisions and promises 

hereinafter set forth, the parties agree as follows: 

UPDATE

APPENDIX G

53



Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 2  

 

TERMS 
 

Section 1: Duties 

 
A. Employer hereby agrees to employ DALE MCDONALD as Administrative 

Services Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, attached as 

Exhibit "A" and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the 

Administrative Services Manager. 

B. The Administrative Services Manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the 

operation and management of the Administrative Office and the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America 

and the State of California governing special districts as directed by the General Manager and as 

outlined in the Administrative Services Manager job description. The Administrative Services 

Manager shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage 

and conduct the business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General 

Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee's full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity without written approval of the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

UPDATE

54



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 3 

 

 
Section 2: Term 

 
A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is "at will". Specifically, 

Employee serves as Administrative Services Manager at the pleasure of the General Manager, 

and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without cause. 

B.  The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end l a t e r  on 

June 30,  2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in  accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement. In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed  contract  negotiations  with  management  employees  by 

June 30, 2023, Employee's employment with the District shall still be covered by this 

Agreement. 

C.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right of 

the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

D.  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right of 

the Employee to resign at any time from their position  with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

Section 3: Salary 

 
A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the  appropriate 

salary step identified in the Administrative Services  Manager Salary Schedule attached as 

Exhibit "B" plus any appropriate longevity amounts. 

B. Longevity Amounts 

 
i. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

UPDATE

55



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 4 

 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

ii. Employees in the "management bargaining unit"  are  eligible  to  receive  a 

longevity step equal to five percent (5%) at the completion of 10 years of 

continuous employment with the District.  

C. Prior to or within one month of his anniversary date, the General Manager shall 

review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase Employee's 

salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Administrative Services Manager 

Salary Schedule. 

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021 the Employee's 

compensation will be $15,056 per month (Step 2)  as set forth in Exhibit "B", the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%. 

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee's pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager. 

 

 
Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 
The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

UPDATE

56



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 5 

 

once annually, beginning with their first anniversary date as Administrative Services Manager. 

Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. 

The District and Employee may develop annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for 

Employee for the benefit of the District and in attainment of the District's policy objectives, and 

may further establish a priority among those goals, objectives, and performance standards. 

Additionally, the District may periodically establish goals and objectives regarding the 

Employee's performance of the duties of Administrative Services Manager. 

 
 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

 
A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit "C". However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit. 

B. Employee  shall  be  compensated  $399.23  monthly  for  a vehicle  allowance.  

The amount will increase each year based on Board approved General Wage COLA increases. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees' 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. ("PERL")), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee's "compensation earnable and reportable" ("PERSable 

compensation") toward the costs of said benefit plan. 

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T,  Sprint and Verizon). 

UPDATE

57



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 6 

 

Employee can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58. The 

allowance will be based on  Board approved General Wage COLA increases of each year. It is the 

sole responsibility of the Employee to maintain their Employee owned phone. Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the purchase cost. 

F. If  Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager's consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy. Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours. All vacation hours purchased shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE's 

current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE's accumulated vacation balance. 

In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours. Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request. All vacation pay requests submitted 

by the payroll due date of the current pay period will be paid to employee on the payroll date of 

the current pay period. Otherwise, such requests will be processed for the following payroll date. 

This cash-out will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

UPDATE

58



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 7 

 

 
Section 6: Professional Development 

 
A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for associations, publications and 

subscriptions for Employee necessary  for their continuation and full participation  in national 

regional, state, and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for their continued 

professional participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as 

determined solely by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee and maintenance of required 

licenses as determined solely by the General Manager. 

C. Employer also agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for short courses, institutes, conferences and seminars that are 

necessary for their professional development and for the good of the Employer as dete1mined 

solely by the General Manager. 

D. Employee shall obtain the General Manager's prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget 

 
Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

 
A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

 
B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. "At Will" Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is "at will" and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager. Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

UPDATE

59



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 8 

 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate their employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance  pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee's current salary. The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If  the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement. However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

UPDATE

60



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 9 

 

Section 8: Notices 

 
Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 

San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

 
DALE MCDONALD 

675 Edwards St. 

Crockett, CA 94525 

 

 
Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

 
Section 9: General Provisions 

 
A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever. Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which  are not embodied herein,  and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

UPDATE

61



Em ployment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 10 

 

the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California. 

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District's 

policies. Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

UPDATE

62



 

 

 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused 

this Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by General Manager, and duly 

attested by its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this 

Agreement the day and year first above written. 

 
 

Date:  ___________ 

 

 

 

Date: ___________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________ 
__________________________ 
 
Teresa Lerch 
District Secretary 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 _______________________________ 

General Manager 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

 

 ______________________________ 

DALE MCDONALD 

 

 

 

 

Seal

   __________________ 

David J. Byers, Attorney for 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Employment Agreement - Dale McDonald (Administrative Services Manager) Page 11 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

UPDATE

63



 

 

UPDATE

64



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 1 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager) 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special 

district, (“District or Employer”) and Greg Pease, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as 

follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to become employed as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

UPDATE

APPENDIX H

65



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Greg Pease as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager to perform the functions and duties specified in the job 

description attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties 

and functions as the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.  

B. The Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall be in charge of and 

responsible for the operation and management of the Collection System, Pump Stations, Safety 

Program and the general business and governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the 

laws of the United States of America and the State of California governing special districts as 

directed by the General Manager and as outlined in the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance 

Manager job description. The Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager shall do and 

perform all services, acts, and functions necessary or advisable to manage and conduct the 

business and governmental affairs of Employer as determined by the General Manager. 

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity. 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

UPDATE

66



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 3 
 

E. Due to the nature of his employment which requires close proximity to 

Employer's facilities, Employee agrees to maintain his permanent residence within a 45-minute 

automobile drive to the Employer’s office during non-commute hours.  Employee is entitled to 

an Emergency Response Stipend of $300 per month as a benefit for being a Stand-by Emergency 

Response employee. 

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or 

without cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023, unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District 

and the District has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 

30, 2023, Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from his position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

  

UPDATE

67



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 4 
 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate 

salary step identified in the Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager Salary Schedule 

attached as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.  

B. Longevity Amounts 

i. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

ii. Employees in the “management bargaining unit” are eligible to receive a 

longevity step equal to five percent of base salary (5%) at the completion of 10 

years of employment with the District. 

C. Prior to or within one month of his/her anniversary date, the General Manager 

shall review the performance of Employee and, at his or her sole discretion, may increase 

Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager. Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on 

District Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase 

determined by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the first pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $17,004 per month (Step 5) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021.  The base monthly compensation excludes the granting of longevity pay in 

accordance with Section 3, paragraph B. 

UPDATE

68



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 5 
 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA 

increase of 2.75%.  

G. In the event the Employee is requested to be Acting General Manager for more 

than seven consecutive days, on the eighth day the Employee’s pay will be increased by 5% until 

the Employee is no longer in the position of Acting General Manager 

 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The General Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least 

once annually, beginning with his/her first anniversary date as Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager. Said review and evaluation shall be in accordance with 

specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop annual goals, 

objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District and in 

attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among those 

goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager.   

 

Section 5: Management Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

UPDATE

69



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 6 
 

B. Employee shall be entitled to a District vehicle. Employer shall pay for all 

expenses associated with this vehicle. Employee shall be permitted to use the vehicle for limited 

personal use only when Employee is either engaged in Employer activities or commuting to and 

from work. Reasonable personal use is allowable.  If Employee ceases to be Collection 

System/Safety/Maintenance Manager but is otherwise employed by Employer this vehicle benefit 

shall end. 

C. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 80 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 80 hours on July 1 of every year, regardless of 

the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

D. Under the current defined benefit plan, pursuant to the Public Employees’ 

Retirement Law (Government Code § 20000 et seq. (“PERL”)), Employee is required to 

contribute 8% of the Employee’s “compensation earnable and reportable” (“PERSable 

compensation”) toward the costs of said benefit plan.   

E. Employee can choose either a District supplied smartphone or can be reimbursed 

the median for a 6 GB plan of the following wireless carriers (AT&T, Sprint and Verizon).  

Employees can be reimbursed for the phone purchases once every 3 years up to $273.58.  The 

allowance will be based on Board approved General Wage COLA increase of each year. It is the 

sole responsibility of the employee to maintain their Employee owned phone.  Employee shall be 

on call and maintain their phone in good working condition and in close proximity to respond to 

District emergencies as necessary or directed by the General Manager.  Should the Employee 

terminate their employment with the District within one year of receiving a reimbursement for a 

phone, the Employee shall reimburse the District 50% of the purchase cost. 

UPDATE

70



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 7 
 

F. If Employee has outside health insurance coverage, the Employee may opt out of 

the District provided health insurance and receive an in-lieu payment of $250 per month to offset 

the cost of the outside health insurance. The Employee must provide proof of health insurance 

coverage. 

G. Employee, with the General Manager’s consent, may purchase a tablet computer 

or laptop once in a four-year period and be reimbursed based on District policy.  Should the 

Employee terminate employment within two years of receiving the reimbursement, the 

Employee shall return to the District 50% of the cost so reimbursed. 

H. Cash out of Vacation: The maximum amount of vacation time EMPLOYEE may 

accrue is 272 hours.  EMPLOYEE shall be eligible to cash out up to 80 hours of vacation time 

one time a year.  All vacation hours cashed out shall be compensated at the EMPLOYEE’s 

current rate of pay and will be removed from the EMPLOYEE’s accumulated vacation balance.  

In no event shall EMPLOYEE cash-outs result in a vacation balance of less than 40 hours.  Such 

requests for cash-out of vacation hours shall be submitted in writing by the employee to the 

General Manager, who will verify and approve the request.  Vacation requests must be submitted 

by June 1 and/or December 1 and will be processed on the following pay period. This cash-out 

will be subject to applicable Federal and State Payroll Tax Law. 

 

Section 6: Professional Development 

A. Employer agrees to budget for and to pay for publications and subscriptions for 

Employee necessary for his/her continuation and full participation in national, regional, state, 

and local associations and organizations necessary and desirable for his continued professional 

UPDATE

71



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 8 
 

participation, growth, and advancement, and for the good of the Employer as determined solely 

by the General Manager. 

B. Employer hereby agrees to budget for and to pay for reasonable travel and 

subsistence expenses of Employee for professional and office travel, meetings, and occasions 

necessary to continue the professional development of Employee as determined solely by the 

General Manager. 

C. Employee shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses in 

this Section which are not in the approved budget.   

 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge 

that Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate his employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

UPDATE

72



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 9 
 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to three months of 

Employee’s current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the 

Employee agrees to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases 

the District from any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the 

Employee refuses to sign this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not 

be entitled to the severance pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in 

accordance with Government Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the 

maximum cash settlement that Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly 

salary of Employee multiplied by the number of months left on the unexpired term of the 

Agreement.  However, if the unexpired term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the 

maximum cash settlement shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of the employee 

multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation time and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits shall be paid in 

accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 

7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

UPDATE

73



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 10 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
100 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Greg Pease 
 767 Riesling Road 
 Petaluma, CA 94954 
 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the 

date of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of 

transmission in the United States Postal Service. 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or 

promise not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the 

Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and 

the Employee. 

UPDATE

74



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 11 
 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

UPDATE

75



Employment Agreement – Greg Pease (Collection System/Safety/Maintenance Manager)Page 12 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by the General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and 

year first above written. 

 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
 
Dated: _________________    _________________________ 
       Greg Pease 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
District Secretary 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
David Byers, Attorney for 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 
 

UPDATE

76



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
Page 1 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

Between Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

And 

Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential) 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this _____ 

day of _______, 2021, by and between the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, a special district, 

(“District or Employer”) and Amy Schultz, (“Employee”) both of whom understand as follows: 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Employer desires to employ the services of Amy Schultz as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; and 

WHEREAS, this position is identified in the codified Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District as Title 1, Chapter 5; and 

WHEREAS, it is the desire of the District Board, (“Board”) to provide certain benefits, to 

establish certain conditions of employment, and to set working conditions of said Employee; and 

WHEREAS, Employee desires to continue employment as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District; 

WHEREAS, both Employer and Employee have read this Agreement and understand its 

contents fully; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these mutual covenants, the parties agree as 

follows: 

UPDATE

APPENDIX I

77



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 2 
 

TERMS 

Section 1: Confidential Nature of Position 

 This position is authorized by Title 1, Chapter 5 of the Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District.  The position is confidential and Employee shall maintain all information 

as confidential as required by the Ordinance. 

Section 2: Duties 

A. Employer hereby agrees to employ Amy Schultz as Administrative/Financial 

Specialist - Confidential to perform the functions and duties specified in the job description, 

attached as Exhibit “A” and to perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions 

as the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.  

B. The Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential shall meet all job duties as 

described in the attached Exhibit “A”.  The Administrative/Financial Specialist – Confidential 

shall do and perform all services, acts, and functions necessary to conduct the general business and 

governmental affairs of Employer in accordance with the laws of the United States of America and 

the State of California governing special districts as directed by the Administrative Services 

Manager and as outlined in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential job description.  

C. Employee agrees that during the term of this Agreement, Employee shall devote 

Employee’s full energies, interests, abilities, and productive time to the performance of the duties 

and responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement and shall not conduct any business or render 

services of any kind for compensation, or undertake other business, professional or commercial 

activity.   

UPDATE

78



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 3 
 

D.  Employee shall perform all duties with due diligence and with the best interest of 

Employer in mind. 

E. Due to the nature of her employment which requires close proximity to Employer's 

facilities, Employee agrees to maintain her permanent residence to a distance within a 45-minute 

automobile drive of the Employer's office during non-commute hours.   

Section 2: Term 

A. Employment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is “at will”. Specifically, 

Employee serves as Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential at the pleasure of the 

General Manager, and as an at-will employee, can be terminated at any time, either with or without 

cause. 

B. The term of this Agreement shall continue on November 4, 2021 and end later on 

June 30, 2023 unless terminated before the expiration of the term in accordance with the provisions 

of this Agreement.  In the event Employee continues employment with the District and the District 

has not completed contract negotiations with management employees by June 30, 2023, 

Employee’s employment with the District shall still be covered by this Agreement. 

C. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the General Manager to terminate the services of Employee at any time, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement.  

D. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent, limit or otherwise interfere with the right 

of the Employee to resign at any time from her position with Employer, subject only to the 

provisions set forth in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

 

UPDATE

79



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 4 
 

Section 3: Salary 

A. Employer agrees to initially compensate Employee based on the appropriate salary 

step identified in the Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule attached 

as Exhibit “B” plus any appropriate longevity amounts.   

B. Employee can receive a longevity step at the beginning of their 7th year of 

employment with the District. The longevity step shall be 5.0%. 

C. Prior to or within one month of her anniversary date, the Administrative Services 

Manager shall review the performance of Employee and, with the authorization of the General 

Manger, may increase Employee’s salary in accordance with the Step Schedule described in 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential Salary Schedule.   

D. Further salary increases during the term of this Agreement shall be based on District 

Salary Surveys or, in part, on a performance review with the percentage salary increase determined 

by the General Manager (see Section 4, below). 

E. Effective the pay period that encompasses July 1, 2021, the Employee’s 

compensation will be $8,959 per month (Step 3) as set forth in Exhibit “B”, the pay scale as of 

July 1, 2021. 

F. Effective July 1, 2022, the Employee shall be entitled to General Wage COLA of 

2.75%. 

Section 4: Performance Evaluation 

 The Administrative Services Manager shall review and evaluate the performance of the 

Employee at least once annually, beginning with her first anniversary date as 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential. Said review and evaluation shall be in 

UPDATE

80



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 5 
 

accordance with specific criteria developed by Employer. The District and Employee may develop 

annual goals, objectives, and performance standards for Employee for the benefit of the District 

and in attainment of the District’s policy objectives, and may further establish a priority among 

those goals, objectives, and performance standards.  Additionally, the District may periodically 

establish goals and objectives regarding the Employee’s performance of the duties of 

Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential.   

Section 5: Benefits 

A. Employee shall be entitled any benefits specified for the Unrepresented Bargaining 

Group in the attached Exhibit “C”.  However, a specific description of certain of those benefits 

follows and the specific description below controls the rights and obligations of Employee and 

Employer for that specific benefit.   

i. The District contracts with the California Public Employee’s Retirement System 

for its retirement program.  The District’s contract with the California Public 

Employee’s Retirement System for “New Members” are subject to the provisions 

of PEPRA which provides a retirement benefit of 2% at age 62 and the benefit 

based on the final three years of compensation.  In consideration for the 

Supplemental Wage Increase outlined in Section 3, Paragraph G, New Members 

shall pay a minimum of 50% of the normal cost as required by PEPRA, or the 

classic employee’s contribution rate, whichever is higher. 

ii. On July 1st of each year the Employee shall be granted a lump sum of 40 hours of 

Administrative leave. The allotment shall reset to 40 hours on July 1 of every 

year, regardless of the unused balance remaining from prior fiscal years. 

UPDATE

81



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 6 
 

Section 6: Professional Development 

Employee shall receive make efforts to continue her performance development.  Employee 

shall obtain the General Manager’s prior approval for any expenses for professional development.  

The General Manager’s determination for such expenses are solely within his discretion. 

Section 7: Termination of Agreement and Severance Pay 

A. The Agreement may be terminated at any time by either party in writing. 

B. Both sides agree that it is preferable to provide thirty (30) days advance notice of 

termination, but such advance notice is not required. 

C. “At Will” Employment: The parties to this Agreement expressly acknowledge that 

Employee is “at will” and serves at the pleasure of the General Manager.  Employee may be 

terminated at any time with or without cause at the sole discretion of the District. The District 

recognizes the right of the Employee to terminate her employment at any time with or without 

reason. 

D. Notwithstanding anything else contained in the Agreement, the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement shall terminate automatically and immediately upon the death or 

permanent disability of Employee. 

E. In the event Employer wishes to terminate Employee without reference to cause, 

then Employee may be entitled to severance pay in a lump sum equal to one month of Employee’s 

current salary.  The District shall only be obligated to pay this severance if the Employee agrees 

to execute a standard release agreement as prepared by the District that releases the District from 

any and all claims the Employee may have against the District.  If the Employee refuses to sign 

this standard severance and release agreement, the Employee shall not be entitled to the severance 

UPDATE

82



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 7 
 

pay.  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, in accordance with Government 

Code § 53260, in the event this Agreement is terminated, the maximum cash settlement that 

Employee may receive shall be an amount equal to the monthly salary of Employee multiplied by 

the number of months left on the unexpired term of the Agreement.  However, if the unexpired 

term of the contract is greater than 18 months, the maximum cash settlement shall be an amount 

equal to the monthly salary of the employee multiplied by 18. 

F. In the event Employee is terminated, the Employee shall be paid out for accrued 

but unused vacation, compensatory time, and administrative leave. Accrued sick leave benefits 

shall be paid in accordance with District personnel policy. 

G. If Employee resigns at the request of the General Manager, Employee shall be 

deemed terminated without cause and may be entitled to severance as set forth under Section 7.E. 

Section 8: Notices 

Notices pursuant to this agreement shall be given by deposit in the custody of the United 

States Postal Service, postage prepaid, addressed as follows: 

General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300 
San Rafael, CA 94903 

 

Amy Shultz 
956 Edwards Ave 
Santa Rosa, CA 95401 

 

Alternatively, notices required pursuant to the agreement may be personally served in the 

same manner as is applicable to civil judicial practice. Notice shall be deemed given as of the date 

UPDATE

83



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 8 
 

of personal service or as of the date of deposit of such written notice in the course of transmission 

in the United States Postal Service. 

Section 9: General Provisions 

A. The text herein shall constitute the entire agreement between the parties and 

supersedes any and all other agreements, either oral or in writing between the District and the 

Employee and contains all of the covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to 

such employment in any manner whatsoever.  Any prior agreements merge into this Agreement 

and specifically prior employment agreements merge into this agreement. 

B. Each party to the Agreement acknowledges that no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, or anyone acting on 

behalf of any party, which are not embodied herein, and no other agreement, statement, or promise 

not contained in the Agreement shall be valid or binding. Any modification of the Agreement will 

be effective only if it is in writing and signed by both the General Manager and the Employee. 

C. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs of 

Employee. 

D. If any provision, or any portion, contained in this Agreement is held 

unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, or portion, shall be 

deemed severable, shall not be affected, and shall remain in full force and effect. 

E. This Agreement shall be interpreted under the laws of the State of California.  

Venue for any action shall be in the Superior Court for the County of Marin. 

UPDATE

84



Employment Agreement – Amy Schultz (Administrative/Financial Specialist - Confidential)
 Page 9 
 

F. Employee understands that the Board may, from time to time, revise the District’s 

policies.  Employee understands that Employee is subject to those policies and procedures when 

they are not in conflict with the contents of this Agreement. 

G. The Employee may reopen negotiations with regards to this Employment 

Agreement if the District has not come to agreement with the union on a Memorandum of 

Understanding between the District and Operating Engineers Local 3 by June 30, 2023.  Any 

increase in salary or benefits renegotiated will be retroactive to July 1, 2023. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District has caused this 

Agreement to be signed and executed on its behalf by its General Manager, and duly attested by 

its District Secretary, and the Employee has signed and executed this Agreement the day and year 

first above written. 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
General Manager 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 

Date: ______________    _______________________________ 
Amy Schultz 
 

ATTEST: 
 
_______________________ 
Teri Lerch 
District Secretary Pro      Seal 
 
 
  
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
______________________________ 
David J. Byers, Attorney for Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

UPDATE

85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144


	Agenda 11042021
	1 Public Comment before Closed Session
	2 Closed Session GM Evaluation
	1 Public Comment Open Session
	2 Manager and Unrepresented employee  Modified Contracts and Terms
	3A minutes 10072021 and 10112021
	3B Draft Warrant List
	4.1 General Manager Report
	4.2 Departmental Reports
	4.3 Accounting System and Software Purchase
	4.4 Plant Upgrade Project Update
	5 Public Comment
	6 Board Reports
	7A Board Member Attend Request
	7B Board Agenda item Request
	8 Various Industry Articles



